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          1  SANITATION AND SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT

          2                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Good afternoon,

          3  everyone.  My name is Michael McMahon.  I am the

          4  Chair of the New York City Council Committee on

          5  Sanitation and Solid Waste, and I hereby convene

          6  this Hearing.

          7                 Today the Committee will conduct a

          8  Hearing on seven bills and one resolution.  The

          9  bills in general will help make our City cleaner,

         10  and some are intended to bring fairness to the

         11  enforcement of our Sanitation laws.  I will give a

         12  brief summary of the content of the bills and an

         13  explanation as to their impact.

         14                 Intro No. 110, which was introduced

         15  by myself, provides for increasing the fines for

         16  those businesses and individuals that deposit their

         17  bagged trash into street litter baskets, or the

         18  so-called wire baskets, if you will.  An ongoing

         19  problem in commercial areas is that businesses, in

         20  particular, and some individuals, place their bagged

         21  trash in the street baskets, filling the baskets and

         22  thereby causing them to overflow with the normal

         23  trash that would be placed there is deposited,

         24  causing dirty street conditions.  The higher fines

         25  proposed in this bill would help DOS enforcement
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          2  stop this activity.

          3                 It really is one of the most amazing

          4  things I have ever seen that why people would put

          5  their trash in those baskets when they could leave

          6  it on their curbsite, but it's a reality, and we see

          7  people putting stuff into them all the time.

          8                 The second bill is Intro No. 215,

          9  introduced by Council Member Gentile.  This bill

         10  would mandate that before an owner of a one or two-

         11  family dwelling receives a violation for improper

         12  disposal of household waste and recycling, an

         13  enforcement agent must identify a minimum of five

         14  mis-sorted items.  This bill would prevent

         15  homeowners who attempt to recycle properly but miss

         16  just one or two items, or is subject to a passerby

         17  depositing trash in a recycling can unbeknownst to

         18  the homeowner from getting ticketed.

         19                 DOS should be concentrating on

         20  enforcement against those homeowners that do not

         21  recycle at all, as per the sponsor of this bill,

         22  rather than fining those that attempt to recycle but

         23  make small mistakes.  This bill allows relief for

         24  those who commit small errors in recycling but who

         25  have the right idea.
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          2                 Intro No. 382 is introduced by

          3  Council Member Yassky.  This bill would provide that

          4  an owner of a residential building would receive in

          5  the first instance a warning for a violation of a

          6  dirty sidewalk.  If they receive a second violation

          7  within 30 days, the regular penalties would apply.

          8  This bill gives homeowners a chance to correct a

          9  single mistake relating to cleaning sidewalks or

         10  gives them a break if wind or pedestrians have

         11  deposited litter in front of their building when

         12  they are away and cannot clean it up.  The

         13  enforcement agent re- visits within 30 days, and if

         14  corrective action has not been taken, they can be

         15  fined.

         16                 Intro No. 548, which is introduced by

         17  Council Member Felder, this bill sets the actual two

         18  one- hour time periods during which enforcement

         19  agents can issue dirty sidewalk violations under

         20  what we commonly call the routing system.  Those

         21  time periods would be 8 a.m. to 9 a.m. And 6 p.m. to

         22  7 p.m.

         23                 In 2004, the Council passed a law

         24  that extended the routing system developed for

         25  businesses to include residential buildings.  That
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          2  bill allowed this Commissioner to set the actual two

          3  one- hour time periods when enforcement agents could

          4  issue tickets for dirty sidewalk violation.  The

          5  Commissioner selected the hours of 8 a.m. to 9 a.m.

          6  and 12 noon to 1 p.m.  The 12 noon to 1 p.m.,

          7  according to the sponsor, does not give residents

          8  who are not home in the daytime the time to clean

          9  their areas before a ticket can be issued.  Changing

         10  the hours to 6 p.m. to 7 p.m. Would give most

         11  homeowners the time to have someone in the household

         12  return home and clean their area, if necessary,

         13  before a ticket could be issued.

         14                 Intro No. 549, also introduced by

         15  Council Member Felder, this bill would set a

         16  definite fine for a first violation for a dirty

         17  sidewalk and other sanitation violations.  In

         18  addition, it would give a 50 percent reduction in

         19  any fine levied against a senior citizen or disabled

         20  individual who has been granted an exemption through

         21  the Department of Finance's Exemption Programs. The

         22  current law provides for a range of fines from $50

         23  to $250.

         24                 The intent of the Council was to give

         25  those adjudicating these violations the ability to
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          2  determine the severity of the violations and base

          3  penalties on that severity.  That does not seem to

          4  be being done by the adjudicators.  They have

          5  selected $100 as the fine for all such violations.

          6  This bill would set a single fine of $50 for a first

          7  offense, a more reasonable or effective amount.  The

          8  bill also gives relief to seniors and disabled

          9  people who are on fixed incomes and should not have

         10  to pay, according to the sponsor, the full amount of

         11  the fine.

         12                 Intro No. 582, which was also

         13  introduced by myself, this bill calls for heavy

         14  fines and the impoundment of vehicles for those

         15  individuals who take recyclable material that has

         16  been sent out for curbside collection by the

         17  Department before it can be collected.  Recently, in

         18  some areas of Manhattan, more than 25 percent of the

         19  paper set out for DOS collection has been taken by

         20  individuals using trucks, and then they re- sell it

         21  in the recycling market.  In other parts of the

         22  City, individuals have been taking all of the metals

         23  set out for Department collection.

         24                 This practice has adversely impacted

         25  on the City's recycling program, and currently only
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          2  a $25 fine can be issued to the violators.  This

          3  bill would increase the fine and allow the

          4  Department to impound the trucks used to collect the

          5  material.  The material pays for the recycling, and

          6  if the people are stealing it, then we have to get

          7  it back, so that recycling can be successful.

          8                 Intro 584, which was introduced by

          9  Council Member Nelson, this bill would require

         10  enforcement agents to be equipped with digital

         11  cameras to take pictures of the actual condition

         12  leading to the issuance of a violation.  There have

         13  been many disagreements over what constitutes a

         14  dirty sidewalk, whether recently deposited litter or

         15  long- standing litter causes a situation leading to

         16  the violation, whether there is sufficient litter to

         17  constitute a dirty sidewalk, et cetera.  An

         18  adjudicating official can decide these types of

         19  issues quickly if a picture of the situation was

         20  present at the hearing.  The cost of digital cameras

         21  have dropped dramatically, and the photos can be

         22  stored, displayed, transferred and printed on

         23  computers.

         24                 On another topic, and the first item

         25  we will take up is a resolution introduced by
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          2  Council Member Reyna, that calls upon the State

          3  Legislature to pass the necessary amendments to the

          4  Hudson River Park Act to allow the recycling Marine

          5  Transfer Station and Education Center to be built at

          6  the end of the Gansevoort Peninsula.

          7                 This MTS is an integral part of the

          8  20- year Solid Waste Management Plan passed by the

          9  Council and approved by the New York State

         10  Department of Environmental Conservation last year.

         11  The construction of this MTS helps to ensure that

         12  every borough will manage its own waste and

         13  recycling.

         14                 This MTS will eliminate trucks

         15  traveling to the Bronx and New Jersey to dispose of

         16  collected recycling material and will free up the

         17  59th Street MTS now used for recycling for use as a

         18  commercial MTS, which would help dramatically

         19  neighborhoods outside of Manhattan and end

         20  Manhattan's dependency of shipping its commercial

         21  waste to neighborhoods already overburdened with

         22  truck traffic and land- based transfer stations in

         23  the Bronx and Brooklyn.

         24                 Today, before we welcome our guests,

         25  I just want to say who was here.  We have Council
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          2  Member Simcha Felder from Brooklyn.  We have Maria

          3  del Carmen Arroyo from the Bronx, Vincent Gentile

          4  from Brooklyn, Michael Nelson from Brooklyn, David

          5  Yassky from Brooklyn, Diana Reyna from Brooklyn and

          6  Queens and Jessica Lappin from Manhattan.  We should

          7  do hearings like this more often, Council.  It's

          8  great to have everybody here.  Carmen Cognetta is

          9  the Counsel to the Committee, and somewhere Daniel

         10  Avery is here as well.  We thank them.  We thank the

         11  Sergeant- at- Arms and all the other staff members

         12  who are here.  At this time, Commissioner, if you

         13  would testify perhaps to the resolution, and

         14  hopefully we'll have the quorum for the vote.

         15                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  I didn't have

         16  prepared testimony on it.  I will just say that it's

         17  something, of course, that we are in favor of, and

         18  it's an important part of the Solid Waste Management

         19  Plan that was agreed to by both the Council and the

         20  Administration and approved by the DEC, as you

         21  pointed out.  I think you've pointed out all the

         22  very good reasons why this is necessary for the fair

         23  and equitable distribution of the City's waste.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Is my

         25  microphone on?  You can, okay.  I've seen some
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          2  reports in newspapers where the opponents are saying

          3  that the Department and the Council and the

          4  planners, the ones who made the plan, didn't explore

          5  adequately other locations for this facility.  Could

          6  you just respond to that?

          7                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  The Department

          8  explored a number of locations for this over time.

          9  That's something that's been ongoing.  In most

         10  cases, when we got down to a couple of locations,

         11  one in particular was Pier 76, and I think we

         12  addressed the concerns of everybody as to why these

         13  other sites were not doable.  Gansevoort Street, of

         14  course, is the best site that we've run across and

         15  historically always was a marine transfer station

         16  until we shut it down a number of years ago.  And

         17  it's something that I can remember, it's a shame we

         18  didn't do it when Emily Lloyd was the Commissioner.

         19  I remember her telling me, you know, we ought to

         20  hang onto that as a recycling transfer station, and

         21  she was farsighted in her thinking at that time, and

         22  it was something that got by us actually, and it was

         23  a shame.  But it's important. We looked at the other

         24  facilities, the other locations, and there was none

         25  that was suitable as this one.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Part of the

          3  opposition says that Pier 76 would be better

          4  location.  Could you just respond?

          5                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Well, first of

          6  all, it's the size.  It's not that large.  I think

          7  they handle both a transfer station and a park.  As

          8  we both know, half of that is supposed to be a park.

          9    I think the other half of it could go to other

         10  uses. I think people are thinking about uses of it

         11  that would generate funding for the park.  I'm not

         12  100 percent of that, but that's an important to look

         13  at and consider, I would suspect.

         14                 Just putting it there, I don't see it

         15  working out with the way it's set up because the

         16  park, I believe, has to face on the water, so you're

         17  losing at least two sides of it probably when you

         18  divide it half.  And when you look at Gansevoort

         19  Street as compared to that one, you have the park.

         20  It's basically a solid square by itself with just a

         21  small little road going through one corner of it

         22  into the what would be the marine transfer station

         23  that would serve as our recycling transfer station.

         24  So part of it is different in their ability to

         25  design a proper facility at that site.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  What about

          3  access to Pier 76 would be difficult as well.  I

          4  remember that analysis.

          5                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Yes, it's in a

          6  very tight spot there when you come down, you're

          7  right up against the highway, whereas Gansevoort

          8  Street you have a little bit better ability to turn

          9  in, get off the roadway rather quick and get into

         10  the transfer station and get back.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  It's a

         12  preferred approach, right?

         13                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  The entrance

         14  and exit would be a lot more difficult down there.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Okay.  Council

         16  Member Lappin has some questions.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN:  Is this

         18  working?  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I wanted to ask

         19  the Commissioner what's happening in Albany with the

         20  proposed amendment to the Hudson River Park Trust

         21  Act?

         22                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Well, I hope

         23  both the Assembly and the Senate are casting their

         24  votes in favor of it, but I don't know for sure.

         25  That's what I hope is going on up there.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN:  I know that's

          3  your hope, but what's --

          4                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  The Mayor has

          5  been working very hard speaking with the Speaker,

          6  and I think letters have gone out.  If not, they may

          7  go out to the Assemblymen and the Senators on the

          8  City's point of view on this, pointing out that it

          9  is very, very important for the City to get this

         10  site for future waste management.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN:  Has the

         12  Speaker indicated whether or not he is supportive of

         13  this proposal?

         14                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  I'm not aware

         15  of his position on it right now.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN:  What about

         17  the State Senate Majority Leader?

         18                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  I believe the

         19  Majority Leader is in favor of it.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN:  What if this

         21  is not approved, the amendment to the plan?  Then

         22  what's DOS's back- up plan in terms of --

         23                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Well, I think

         24  the big impact if it's not approved is that the

         25  commercial waste that's coming out of Manhattan,
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          2  which represent about 40 percent of the commercial

          3  waste in the City, which is going to the Bronx and

          4  to northern Brooklyn and to some degree out to

          5  eastern Queens, not a lot, but some, that waste, for

          6  the most past, is going to continue to go there.  So

          7  it's going to impact on those communities, so it is

          8  very, very important to get Gansevoort Street so

          9  that 59th Street can be fully used for putrescible

         10  waste from Manhattan to be exported outside the

         11  City.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN:  There's no

         13  commercial waste going to Gansevoort Street,

         14  correct?

         15                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Correct, no.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN:  It would only

         17  be recyclables?

         18                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Only

         19  recyclables, absolutely.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN:  I guess my

         21  question is, if this doesn't get approved in Albany,

         22  will you then come back to the Committee with

         23  changes to the plan in terms of process?  What would

         24  be the next step?

         25                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Well, if we
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          2  don't get it, we have to rely on 59th Street to be

          3  used for half of the capacity there to be used for

          4  paper, getting exported from Manhattan to the VC

          5  facility on Staten Island via barge, and the other

          6  half of the capacity would be going from out of

          7  Manhattan.  So you restrict the amount of material

          8  putrescible waste, that is, that you can receive

          9  from the private sector.

         10                 I also think from a design point of

         11  view to be able to design that transfer station to

         12  handle a decent amount of putrescible waste, and I

         13  think it may be possible if we have the whole thing

         14  to possibly do up to 3,000 tons.  We'll have to see

         15  what the private sector who would submit proposals

         16  on this will and can do.  But when you restrict it

         17  to only half the facility, and I'm talking about

         18  half the footprint out there, you really limit the

         19  amount of material that can go through there.  I

         20  sometimes question whether the private company would

         21  be willing to take on that expense of just getting

         22  half a loaf there, and what it would cost them to

         23  prepare the site for their use.  So it becomes very

         24  questionable as to how much we could get out of

         25  Manhattan.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN:  I guess this

          3  just brings me back to the comments that I made when

          4  we passed this plan, which is that I've never

          5  thought the plan for Manhattan was well thought out,

          6  that I've always believed it was a House of Cards,

          7  and you have two out of the three pieces of the

          8  puzzle that are up in the air in terms of what the

          9  private sector is willing to do on 59th Street,

         10  which is based on what happens at Gansevoort Street,

         11  so I guess I don't want to say like I told you so,

         12  and maybe you'll get this approved in Albany, but

         13  I'm feeling a little bit like that. So I'm just

         14  wondering if 59th Street then is not something that

         15  the private sector will be willing to do, then the

         16  whole plan breaks down, so then what's going to

         17  happen?

         18                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  I don't see

         19  the plan breaking down.  I mean, the plan was

         20  basically designed as is, with the commercial waste

         21  basically going to the Bronx and to Brooklyn.  The

         22  hope was that 59th Street would be explored and

         23  used, but it was not an essential part of it.  It

         24  was very, very important.  It still is very, very

         25  important, but it does not prevent the City from
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          2  continuing to handle the commercial waste, and the

          3  biggest part of it is the residential waste, of

          4  course, which is in the plant which is going to

          5  drive over to Jersey, the waste energy facility, as

          6  it has been doing for a number of years.  So

          7  although if we don't get it, is it the goldplated

          8  plan that we would like? No, but is it a good plan?

          9  Is it a plan that will work? Absolutely.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN:  So you're

         11  saying this plan will work without either 59th

         12  Street or Gansevoort?

         13                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  No, I'm saying

         14  it's important that we get Gansevoort Street, so

         15  59th Street can be opened to commercial waste and

         16  get the putrescible waste out of Manhattan. If it

         17  doesn't happen, we still can get rid of the waste in

         18  Manhattan.  Is it the best way to get rid of the

         19  waste?  Absolutely not, but the plan was built on

         20  the way it is right now with the hope that 59th

         21  Street could be used.  We didn't know at the time, I

         22  don't think the Council knew and the Administration

         23  didn't know whether 59th Street was going to be a

         24  viable solution to the commercial waste in

         25  Manhattan.
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          2                 As we went on, we looked and said

          3  wait a minute, let's Gansevoort Street into the mix,

          4  and if we can get Gansevoort Street into the mix, it

          5  helps us provide an even better solution for the

          6  commercial waste in Manhattan, but if it doesn't

          7  happen, unfortunately, the waste goes to other

          8  communities outside of Manhattan, and we're not

          9  happy about that, and those communities are not

         10  happy about that.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN:  And I'm not

         12  happy about that either.  That's why I just feel

         13  like this wasn't an honest plan, but I don't want to

         14  rehash all these old issues.  Thank you, Mr.

         15  Chairman.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Just on that

         17  note though, Commissioner, isn't it correct that if,

         18  by 2008, these plans are not coming into fruition or

         19  not materializing, then the Department has to report

         20  back to the Council on its efforts and what

         21  direction we go for alternative sites?

         22                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Yes, we will

         23  be coming back to the Council, and I think part of

         24  it, as the Council knows too, is that when we talk

         25  about the putrescible waste that could potentially,
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          2  if things didn't work out for us with Gansevoort

          3  Street, but I'm hoping they will, that we are

          4  looking and we're working to reduce the amount of

          5  putrescible waste that is going to the Brooklyn

          6  North area and to the South Bronx.  So that's

          7  another part of the plan we're continuing to work

          8  on, so that we can reduce the amount of waste that

          9  can go there, to help out those communities.  So

         10  there's a number of steps being made in that

         11  direction.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Okay, Council

         13  Member Reyna?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  I will be very

         15  brief.  I just wanted to highlight certain things

         16  that I don't want to get lost as a sponsor of this

         17  resolution calling upon the state to pass, once and

         18  for all, the Hudson River Act amendment.  I wanted

         19  to just make sure that people didn't lose sight of

         20  the fact that when you mention North Brooklyn as far

         21  as processing waste for the City of New York, we're

         22  talking about 16 waste facilities in one community

         23  board, is that not correct, Commissioner?

         24                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  And when we're
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          2  talking about --

          3                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  There's a

          4  number in that area.  I don't know if it's 16 in one

          5  board.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  And we always

          7  continue to debate that number, and I will always

          8  take the greater number.

          9                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Okay, it's a

         10  large number, let's put it that way.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  It certainly

         12  is.

         13                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  More than

         14  anyone should have.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Absolutely.

         16  And at the end of the day, we carry 40 percent for

         17  the City's waste to be processed, of which 70

         18  percent is the City's commercial waste, so that when

         19  we talk about Gansevoort being the recycling

         20  facility, the delay of the recycling facility delays

         21  everything that comes with it, which is the

         22  component as far as the relief to boroughs carrying

         23  the waste, as far as residential and commercial, as

         24  far as the recycling as far as the truck volume that

         25  goes in and out of our neighborhoods.
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          2                 So the delay of this vote, or the

          3  opposition of this vote at the state level, if the

          4  legislature does not come through for the City that

          5  has vehemently been proponents, with the exception

          6  of a few, to make sure that there is a plan that

          7  will be cohesive and equitable, that there will be a

          8  damage to communities who have been continuously

          9  carrying the burdens for two, three decades,

         10  correct?

         11                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Correct.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  And so the

         13  bottom line here is that the state really cannot

         14  take a look at just one community or one facility or

         15  one area of processing in the Department of

         16  Sanitation as far as recycling is concerned.  This

         17  is a several component plan that doing the opposite

         18  of the what the City has requested will delay

         19  everything and be detrimental to all neighborhoods

         20  throughout the City of New York.  Do you agree with

         21  that?

         22                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  It impacts on

         23  the Bronx and South Bronx and North Brooklyn

         24  tremendously.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  I just want to
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          2  urge, once and for all, we ask for relief and

          3  equitable processing of waste, not just within the

          4  component of recycling, but everything that comes

          5  with the SWMP plan as we called for it when we

          6  passed the SWMP plan.  Thank you very much.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Council Member

          8  Yassky?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Thank you.  I

         10  understand we have to move to a hearing.  I'm eager

         11  to the move the hearing, so I'll be very brief.  I

         12  will certainly be voting for Council Member Reyna's

         13  resolution here.  As you know, Commissioner, I voted

         14  for the plan, the compromise of a plan that Chair

         15  McMahon worked out and made I think tremendously

         16  great strides here, but I do remain, I have to say,

         17  very worried about when and whether 59th Street will

         18  go into operation.  I think that's very related to

         19  this resolution, so just two quick factual

         20  questions.  One is, I know that the RFP period you

         21  put out an RFP for 59th Street.  Can you tell me

         22  what you've gotten, what responses you've gotten and

         23  what the time frame will be for moving forward with

         24  those responses?

         25                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: We've received
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          2  six proposals. Without going into the names of the

          3  companies that submitted the proposals, a number of

          4  them are well known, well financed companies which

          5  was very, very encouraging because they've got the

          6  finances, they've got the ability, and they've got

          7  the wear- with- all to make this happen.  So the

          8  timing, I'll probably get into that another hearing,

          9  I don't want to give it to you now.  We're going to

         10  move as quickly as we can, but it's going to take

         11  time to review and then look at it.  I don't have a

         12  month or a year number in my head right now.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Well, I would

         14  ask, I guess, if you could get that.

         15                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  We will get

         16  back to you.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Because, as

         18  you know, that's the way we can kind of make sure

         19  that things are moving forward, so it's timing.  My

         20  second question is, because it seems to me to be

         21  only prudent, given the whole history of this issue

         22  were plans that were put forward in good faith and

         23  that seemed like they were going to work, encounter

         24  obstacles, it seems to be only prudent to look at

         25  both the Pier 76 and the Hudson Railyards
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          2  alternatives that have been suggested.  You've said

          3  that you've looked at them.  Have there been

          4  feasibility studies, any written evaluation of those

          5  proposals that you can share with us?  Or any

          6  written evaluation of those proposals period?

          7                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  I would have

          8  to check with Harry Sufansky (phonetic).  I don't

          9  know if we have anything in the file, but I can say

         10  about the 30th Street site.  I mean, that was

         11  considered for one thing for a sanitation garage.

         12  I'm aware of that.  And as far as a transfer

         13  station, there was one proposal that I looked at and

         14  other people looked at from a company, and it was

         15  not realistic.  That was the one where they were

         16  going to take it and put in railroad cars and build

         17  a whole new tunnel.  Our take on that, one, it would

         18  be extremely expensive.  You also would have

         19  problems with the new tunnel that's being planned

         20  from Penn Station to Jersey, I believe, and there

         21  was just not sufficient space.

         22                 One of the earlier plans I looked at,

         23  they had the queuing of trucks in the street, which

         24  we know is a no- no, so we haven't, or at least I

         25  haven't seen any good ideas for that area, plus the
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          2  City is, I think, still up in the air as to what

          3  ultimately is going to go on that site, and I know

          4  people are looking to do residential buildings

          5  there.  Somebody mentioned that to me that they'll

          6  put a residential building over this transfer

          7  station.  I says, yeah, not in my lifetime or

          8  anybody else's.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Thank you,

         10  Mr. Chair.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Okay, we're

         12  going to call the vote on the Resolution 899,

         13  introduced by Council Member Reyna, which calls upon

         14  the state legislature to amend the Hudson River Park

         15  Act to authorize the construction and operation of a

         16  Marine Transfer Station and Environmental Education

         17  Center at Pier 52 on the Gansevoort Peninsula in

         18  lower Manhattan.  The Chair recommends a yes vote or

         19  an aye vote.  Mr. Martin?

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Resolution 899,

         21  Council Member McMahon?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Aye.

         23                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Gennaro.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO:  Yes.

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Jackson.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON:  Yes.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Yassky.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Yes.

          5                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Arroyo.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO:  Yes.

          7                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Lappin.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN:  No.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK:  A vote of five in the

         10  affirmative, one in the negative, no abstentions.

         11  The item is adopted. Members, please sign the

         12  Committee Report.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Thank you very

         14  much. Commissioner, you have the floor again.  We'll

         15  go to the piece of legislation that was.

         16                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Thank you.

         17  Good afternoon, Chairman McMahon and Members of the

         18  City Council on Sanitation and Solid Waste.  I'm

         19  John Doherty, Commissioner of the New York City

         20  Department of Sanitation.  To my left is First

         21  Deputy Commissioner, Michael Bimonte and to my right

         22  is Chief of Enforcement, Todd Kuznitz.

         23                 The first bill, Intro 110, creates a

         24  second, third and repeat offenders status of

         25  individual or businesses that unlawfully uses the
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          2  corner litter basket for depositing their household

          3  or commercial refuse.  It also establishes minimum

          4  fines that increase incrementally with each

          5  subsequent offense in a 12 month period.  We support

          6  this bill as a means to improve and maintain street

          7  cleanliness.   Now, I'm going to skip a little bit

          8  on this one.  We approved that one.  That was a good

          9  one.

         10                 Second bill, Intro 215.  This bill,

         11  Intro 215 would require Sanitation enforcement

         12  personnel to identify a minimum of five or more mis-

         13  sorted recyclables or trash items improperly placed

         14  in one or two- family homeowners' receptacles before

         15  issuing a summons to the owner for improper

         16  disposal.

         17                 In 2005, the Department testified

         18  before this Committee explaining that it is

         19  currently the Department's policy to issue summonses

         20  when more than five receptacle items are mixed in

         21  with regular trash or more than five non- recyclable

         22  items are mixed in with designated recyclables.

         23  After the hearing, we sent the Committee a copy of

         24  our written policy.

         25                 Although the proposed law change is
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          2  consistent with our current enforcement policy, we

          3  believe codifying into minimum numbers to constitute

          4  a violation sets a bad legislative precedent and may

          5  lead to many residents to become less vigilant about

          6  sorting their recyclables and could result in

          7  reduced recycling tonnage if residents do not

          8  embrace recycling seriously, and that's the

          9  important part of this, I think.

         10                 I must emphasize that relaxing the

         11  requirement of the City's recycling law is the wrong

         12  message to communicate to New Yorkers, especially

         13  when recycling is a critical component of our

         14  approved solid waste plan, and this Committee worked

         15  with us to pass last year.  Intro No. 215 implicitly

         16  says to state and federal officials that New York

         17  City is not 100 percent committed to recycling.  For

         18  this reason, we are opposed to the bill.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  If I could stop

         20  you right there, Commissioner, just to allow Council

         21  Member Seabrook to vote on the resolution.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Council Member

         23  Seabrook.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK:  Aye.

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK:  The vote now stands
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          2  at six in the affirmative and one in the negative.

          3                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  A third bill,

          4  Intro 548, which establishes the Department's two

          5  residential enforcement routing periods between the

          6  hours of 8 and 9 a.m. and between 6 to 7 p.m.  It

          7  would also broaden the scope of enforcement routing

          8  by limiting the Department's ability to enforce all

          9  sanitation violations under Section 16- 118 and 16-

         10  120 to only those pre- determined hours.  We oppose

         11  this bill, and we can go into that in the questions

         12  because it's important why we're opposing this bill.

         13  It's not so much the routing, and I'm open to

         14  working on that one, routing hours, that is.

         15                 Many of the violations set forth in

         16  Section 16- 118 and 16- 120 are not premises- based,

         17  meaning the violation occurs at or on the owner's

         18  property.  However, this bill would cover every

         19  subdivision under Section 16- 118 and restrict the

         20  Department's ability to issue summonses only during

         21  the two hour routing periods to those persons who

         22  litter, sweep material into the street, improperly

         23  throw out material, fail to clean their sidewalk and

         24  in areas behind their fence, fail to clean 18 inches

         25  into the street from the curb, place on the sidewalk
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          2  any obstruction that blocks the flow of pedestrian

          3  traffic, release dust or other flying material into

          4  the air, spill liquids or material from a truck or

          5  receptacle, release noxious liquids onto the

          6  sidewalk or street, interfere with a Department

          7  employee and improperly remove material placed out

          8  for Department collection.

          9                 Additionally, this bill would

         10  restrict under Section 16- 120 the Department's

         11  ability to issue summonses only during the pre-

         12  determined routing hours to persons who improperly

         13  dispose of materials, improperly use corner litter

         14  baskets, use an improper receptacle, mix material,

         15  have loose rubbish, and fail to properly store their

         16  receptacles.  This bill is tantamount to repealing

         17  the most common quality of life sanitation

         18  infractions enacted over the past 50 or so years by

         19  granting the public the right to disregard and

         20  disobey these laws 22 hours out of the day.

         21                 In recent years, we have achieved

         22  record levels of street cleanliness thanks to the

         23  men and women of this agency who work diligently and

         24  competently each day to ensure the streets,

         25  sidewalks and public areas are clean, free of
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          2  obstructions and safe for pedestrians and tourists.

          3                 Different neighborhoods throughout

          4  the City require varying levels of monitoring and

          5  enforcement based on factors including population

          6  density and pedestrian traffic.  Limiting the hours

          7  when the Department is able to enforce sanitation

          8  code violations will severely impact our ability to

          9  maintain the existing levels of street and sidewalk

         10  cleanliness.  Enactment of this legislation would

         11  send us back to the days when filth and litter

         12  marred our streetscapes.

         13                 The determination of when enforcement

         14  will be conducted should rest with the discretion of

         15  the Sanitation Department and its Commissioner,

         16  whose knowledge and familiarity with the street and

         17  sidewalk cleanliness in neighborhoods across the

         18  City allows the Department to appropriately and

         19  fairly address the needs of communities citywide in

         20  an operationally responsible manner.

         21                 The fourth bill, Intro 549 would

         22  reduce the fine to $50 imposed for all first time

         23  sanitation violations under Section 16- 118 and $75

         24  imposed for all first time violations under Section

         25  16- 120.  Additionally, it would reduce the fine
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          2  schedule for repeat violators that the City Council

          3  implemented pursuant to Local Law 1 of 2003.  It

          4  also reduces the fines by one- half the amount for

          5  all Sections 16- 118, 16- 120 and 16- 123 violations

          6  imposed against property owners having senior or

          7  disabled homeowner tax exemptions.           We

          8  oppose this bill.  As it is today, current penalties

          9  do not deter persons from violating the law.

         10  Lowering the civil fines imposed under Sections 16-

         11  118 and 16- 120 will not ensure that people comply

         12  with sanitation responsibilities under the laws.  In

         13  addition, this legislation is inconsistent with the

         14  Department's policy of enforcing the Sanitation Code

         15  provisions equally against all property owners.

         16                 The fifth bill, Intro 584 would

         17  require Department personnel authorized to issue

         18  violations to use digital cameras for the purpose of

         19  taking photographs of the conditions warranting the

         20  issuance of a Sanitation Code violation under

         21  Section 16- 118.

         22                 The Department opposes this bill.  It

         23  would require the Department to purchase

         24  approximately 1,400 cameras and accompanying

         25  computer equipment to comply.  Additionally, the
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          2  Department and the Environmental Control Board

          3  currently do not have the technology that would

          4  allow the electronic transmission of such digital

          5  photographs as required in the bill.  As a result,

          6  the bill is impractical, problematic and technically

          7  unfeasible.

          8                 The sixth bill, Intro 382 would

          9  require the Department enforcement agents to issue

         10  warnings to residential property owners for first

         11  time violations under subsection 2 of Section 16-

         12  118 covering failure to clean 18 inches and dirty

         13  sidewalk infractions.

         14                 We oppose this bill.  The City's

         15  sidewalk cleanliness law is not a new law requiring

         16  a lead- in time to educate residents on new

         17  responsibilities and legal obligations. Rather, the

         18  requirement that building owners clean in front of

         19  their properties has existed over 50 years.

         20  Moreover, if a property owner has a legitimate

         21  reason for disputing the violation, he or she may do

         22  so through the adjudicatory process.

         23                 The last bill I address is Intro 582,

         24  which increases the fines imposed against persons

         25  who remove, without the property owner's consent,
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          2  recyclable materials placed at the curb for the

          3  Department pick- up.  The bill will also authorize

          4  the Department to impound the vehicles of persons

          5  who violate this Section.

          6                 Department enforcement personnel are

          7  observing a growing trend in the number of vans and

          8  vehicles scouting residential blocks and have been

          9  issuing summonses to scavengers from these vehicles

         10  who remove from the curb metal and paper recyclables

         11  that residents placed out for the Department pick-

         12  up the next morning.

         13                 As you know, the Department is

         14  committed to maximize the amount of recyclable

         15  material it collects by processing or marketing it

         16  in fulfillment of a goal under the City's long- term

         17  Solid Waste Management Plan.  The Department

         18  believes that increasing the fines and authorizing

         19  the Department to impound vehicles from operators

         20  who violate this section of the law will serve as a

         21  deterrent to individuals who would otherwise take

         22  materials intended for the Department's municipal

         23  recycling program.  For these reasons, we support

         24  Intro 582 and urge its passage by the full Council.

         25                 I'm now happy to answer your
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          2  questions.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  What I'd like

          4  to do is I will go by each bill, I'll ask the

          5  sponsor if he or she would like to say something,

          6  and then we'll follow up with some questions on

          7  that.

          8                 Just on 110, which I introduced, I

          9  think it's pretty straightforward, and the fine that

         10  we seek would be $100 for people who illegally throw

         11  refuse into the litter baskets, a range of $100 to

         12  $300.  Do you think that that fine should have more

         13  teeth to it to be more effective?

         14                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  I think that

         15  the fine is one thing.  The fine, whether people

         16  will break the law and accept the fine will depend a

         17  lot on the price of the commodity.  I think the big

         18  thing in your legislation is the ability to impound

         19  the vehicle.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  That's the

         21  second bill.

         22                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  I'm sorry.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  The fine on

         24  that one was higher.  The $100 to $300 is for the

         25  illegal deposit in the commercial wire baskets.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  I think that

          3  is definitely helpful, and I think just by enacting

          4  some new legislation brings the attention to the

          5  public that this is a violation and it's one that we

          6  take seriously.  We found through the solid waste

          7  composition study that about a little over 20

          8  percent of the material we find in these litter

          9  baskets is a combination of residential waste and

         10  commercial waste.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  And you asked

         12  for a rebuttable presumption based on evidence

         13  found?  Would you just like to explain that for the

         14  Committee?

         15                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Well, what's

         16  important to us on that is that right now that

         17  summons is what we call an action summons.  We have

         18  to catch the person in the act, and we have to get

         19  identification from them.  We have at times, when we

         20  find a bag in there with sufficient documentation in

         21  it and somebody's address, we have to go to that

         22  person's house or apartment, whatever it may be,

         23  find that person and try and issue them a ticket.

         24  This is a very time- consuming and very cumbersome

         25  way of doing it, so the rebuttable presumption is a
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          2  major part of that bill, and I think that alone is

          3  going to make people think twice about putting

          4  residential or commercial waste into the litter

          5  basket.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  We will

          7  certainly take that request back and perhaps amend

          8  the bill and put that it in, but that sort of act of

          9  faith on our part assumes that the enforcement

         10  agents will act with common sense and appropriately

         11  under the circumstances.  There's a report in our

         12  local paper about a woman who received a $100 ticket

         13  for leaving her garbage on the curb.  It wasn't

         14  picked up.  It stayed a few more days.  If you call

         15  311, they tell you to leave it on the curb, but she

         16  got a ticket anyway, and now she's going through the

         17  wringer of ECB and it's a front page story because

         18  it kind of defies common sense, this particular

         19  story.  I understand that when you're giving out a

         20  lot of tickets that there can be mistakes, but how

         21  can you just guarantee or assure us, is the right

         22  word, that common sense will be the rule that the

         23  enforcement agents follow, and that someone like

         24  this who is sort of caught, at least prima facie,

         25  seems that she's justified.  How can we resolve it
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          2  quickly, so she doesn't have to go to court in

          3  Manhattan to fight this fine?

          4                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Well, I would

          5  have to look into that particular violation, but as

          6  far as common sense, and using really good judgment,

          7  Chief Kuznitz has worked very hard with the

          8  enforcement agent, with the sanitation police, and

          9  even our own field officers to ensure that they use

         10  discretion and be surer about when they write a

         11  violation that that person or building deserves the

         12  violation.

         13                 I just will comment on mixed

         14  collection is something that I am very concerned

         15  about.  It's something that from a 311 point of view

         16  is one of the top complaints we get.  We've done a

         17  lot of investigating into these, and yes, sometimes

         18  we do miss it. I'm not going to deny that.  But

         19  quite often, from what we've found, is people put it

         20  out late.  They just get up late, and you have to

         21  remember the trucks at this time of the year start

         22  at 6 o'clock in the morning, and some places they're

         23  out there by quarter after 6, depending on how close

         24  the garage is to the route. If people don't put it

         25  out the night before, and even this Council and this
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          2  Committee has allowed people to put it out earlier,

          3  so we can address that, and that's where we find

          4  most of these missed collection complaints go back

          5  to that.  We track it.  We track it by section and

          6  district to see if we can find an area in the City

          7  that we're getting more complaints about for missed

          8  collection to try and zero it down.  What's the

          9  problem?  Do we have a bad crew there?

         10                 Thankfully, for the Department's

         11  point of view at least, we're not finding that too

         12  many of the errors are our fault. There are some, no

         13  question about it, maybe this one we made a mistake,

         14  and I don't know. But sometimes it's tough.  You see

         15  it out there.  It's out on the wrong day.

         16                 The officer writing, all he knows is

         17  that there's no backlog out.  That's one of the

         18  things enforcement people do in the morning.  Is

         19  there any garbage from the day before that we didn't

         20  pick up as still sitting on the street?  The report

         21  generally comes back, no, because we claim by the

         22  end of each night.  If we miss one like that, we

         23  don't know who put it out.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Well, what

         25  should a homeowner or building owner do if their

                                                            42

          1  SANITATION AND SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT

          2  garbage is missed?  Are they supposed to return it

          3  back to their house or leave it out?

          4                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Well, if it

          5  was me, and I could get it back, and I know I might

          6  get a summons, I would think I would bring it back

          7  unless I was assured they were going to come back

          8  for it.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  But it's my

         10  understanding if you call 311 --

         11                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  They were told

         12  to put it out. That's one of those things you're

         13  caught between if you leave it there like 311 tells

         14  you, yes, but the officer doesn't know that this

         15  person called 311 already.  I mean, we have pretty

         16  quick communications to get it from when the person

         17  complains to the officer out there, but in this case

         18  the person, I don't know when the person called and

         19  when we found out about it and what time the ticket

         20  was issued, so there's a number of things.  But we

         21  try to work closely to correct those problems.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  And you will

         23  look at her case and give it a review, somebody in

         24  the Department?

         25                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  We'll look at
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          2  it, yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Okay.

          4                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Somebody has

          5  to send us something on it.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Yes, we'll send

          7  it to you today.  Because I think that a lot of the

          8  bills that are introduced here today stem from how

          9  things are enforced, so I think that's going to be a

         10  theme throughout the hearing.

         11                 Let me begin with, next is Council

         12  Member Gentile, who has introduced No. 215, if he

         13  would like to make a statement and do some

         14  questions, then I'll follow up with my other

         15  colleagues on that bill, then we'll go bill by bill

         16  if that's okay with everybody.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Thank you,

         18  Mr.  Chairman, and Commissioner, thank you and your

         19  staff for being here.  I introduced Introduction 215

         20  in last session and re-submitted it this past year.

         21  It would require sanitation agents to write

         22  summonses for mis-sorted recyclables to one and two-

         23  family owners to identify at least five items

         24  improperly disposed in recyclable bins before a

         25  summons could be issued.
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          2                 The legislation was crafted with the

          3  idea and intent to protect the average New Yorker

          4  who shows good faith when they are disposing of

          5  their recyclables.  A person should not be subjected

          6  to fines and fees when they're evidently trying to

          7  do the right thing.  This marks a distinction, also

          8  this bill, between one and two- family dwellings in

          9  comparison to other dwellings.

         10                 As you said, Commissioner, according

         11  to your testimony, or your Department's testimony at

         12  the last hearing on this issue, this five item

         13  plateau before a summons is written is part of your

         14  policy.  So if this is the current Department

         15  policy, there should be no objection really from the

         16  Department to codify this into law.

         17                 Indeed, despite what your comments

         18  are today, I think not codifying this into law

         19  raises a red flag and poses the question of whether

         20  constituents are being given this five item

         21  consideration indiscriminately, in case- by- case

         22  basis, left to the discretion of the agent.

         23                 There are benefits for doing the

         24  codifying of this practice into law, not the least

         25  of which is that this plateau would continue to be
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          2  followed regardless of who the next Mayor, or for

          3  that matter the next Sanitation Commissioner will

          4  be.  We would be able to tabulate data and analyze

          5  the number of people receiving tickets based on the

          6  differing amounts of mis- sorted trash.

          7                 Certainly, and most importantly, our

          8  constituents that we all represent will know that

          9  New York City wants to partner with them in good

         10  faith in recycling efforts rather than treat New

         11  Yorkers as targets for revenue.  We want to be

         12  partners with the Department of Sanitation, not

         13  targets of the Department of Sanitation.

         14                 I think far too often our City

         15  generates the revenue off of New Yorkers, and we

         16  can't allow this to continue where we can stop it.

         17  This bill seeks to protect those residents who are

         18  diligent, show good faith when disposing of their

         19  recyclable waste. It will protect people such as

         20  John Hoolihan (phonetic), a resident of my district.

         21  John, like most New Yorkers, took care of his trash

         22  the night before.  He put it out before he went to

         23  sleep.  When coming home the next day, he came home

         24  to a summons.  John, a hard- working, taxpaying New

         25  Yorker said that due to a bottle redemption store in
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          2  the vicinity of his block, an individual went

          3  through his trash and mixed recyclables with waste.

          4  John's good faith effort to recycle was undermined

          5  by a third party completely outside of his control,

          6  yet he was responsible for the summons.

          7                 And John is not alone.  Take the

          8  summons issued to one Albert Goreab (phonetic) for

          9  simply improperly disposing recyclables.  Aside from

         10  the fact that the individual has been deceased for

         11  over three decades, his wife, Evelyn, who is 94

         12  years old, was responsible for the summons.  But the

         13  sheer vagueness in the wording of that summons

         14  really speaks for itself and really lending more

         15  credence to the necessity of not only having agents

         16  identify at least five items, but also listing those

         17  items.  The description on this summons read "at

         18  time and place of occurrence I did observe household

         19  garbage improperly placed in a recycling container

         20  designated for metal, glass and plastic."  So these

         21  conclusory statements don't indicate the source of

         22  the summons or the amount of the mis- sorted trash.

         23                 I'll mention one other summons issued

         24  to a Michael Castolos (phonetic) indicated household

         25  waste but not what that household waste was, nor the
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          2  amount of that waste.

          3                 So really clarity in this process

          4  results when it becomes more precise and more

          5  transparent, and that's what this bill seeks to do,

          6  encourage good faith compliance with recycling laws,

          7  yet be fair and reasonable to homeowners.  That's

          8  why this bill is before us, and that's why I am

          9  urging my colleagues to support it, Commissioner.

         10                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Well, my first

         11  comment is we're in agreement to the degree that it

         12  be left in the hands of the Department rather than

         13  codifying it into the law because, as I said, it

         14  sends out a chilling effect to the public about

         15  recycling. We are right now on the residential

         16  recycling only at between 16 and 17 percent

         17  diversion.  We, collectively, are shooting for 25

         18  percent.  We are not going to get the 25 percent by

         19  watering down the legislation.  That gives people

         20  the idea that, oh, five pieces, I'm good.  So now

         21  they're going to count, they're going to say, wait I

         22  got six here, or somebody's going to say, I only had

         23  six.  The law says five, and the next time I come in

         24  here, you'll say, well, let's jack it up to ten

         25  because one of my constituents had six pieces or
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          2  seven pieces.  I think it sends a very bad signal

          3  out there.

          4                 And when you talk about somebody that

          5  talked about one of the gentleman, John, I think you

          6  mentioned, he said that somebody went through it and

          7  they mixed stuff in there.  Well, I don't know what

          8  five pieces has to do with that particular problem

          9  because if somebody mixes it, they could mix ten or

         10  eight or something.  I mean, they mixed it, and

         11  that's a shame, and it's a shame the man got a

         12  summons, but I don't think that ties the five items.

         13    That just is something that occurs once in awhile

         14  in this City that we hear about, but it has nothing

         15  to do with the five items.

         16                 The poor woman whose husband was

         17  deceased, well, that probably went to him because

         18  the house is in his name on the tax registration, so

         19  it goes to the owner of the home.  As far as the

         20  wife goes, it's unfortunate.  She admitted she made

         21  a mistake. She's an older woman.  I don't know how

         22  the enforcement people can address old people or

         23  handicapped people because there's nothing on the

         24  door that indicates to us who lives there, and I

         25  don't know that we want to go down that route, but
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          2  that's another discussion on that.

          3                 As far as the items go, on the

          4  recycling side, if we find recyclables in the

          5  garbage, we clearly list on the summons the five

          6  items.  With the waste in with the recyclables,

          7  we're not as good at that.  And that is because of

          8  the computer system we're now using to write

          9  summonses automatically.  We call it the Nova

         10  system.

         11                 We haven't been able to address the

         12  software as easily to come up and say well, there

         13  was a bag of orange peels in there, or there was

         14  some food waste in there, or there was I don't know

         15  some other contaminant that wasn't recyclable.  We

         16  haven't been able to get to that point, and that's

         17  why, unfortunately, we have not been identifying the

         18  five items of waste.  We do it with the recyclables

         19  that are in with the garbage, but we haven't refined

         20  it to where we would like to get it on the waste in

         21  with the recyclables.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  I think,

         23  Commissioner, that you miss the point here of saying

         24  that it sets a bad precedent. I'm more concerned

         25  with setting a bad attitude out of our constituents
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          2  who are trying in good faith to recycle.  Whether

          3  they leave a cap on a plastic bottle that shouldn't

          4  be in the recyclables, that should not subject them

          5  to a summons because in good faith they left that

          6  cap on that.

          7                 And if somebody comes by and throws

          8  things into their trash, as John Hoolihan had, at

          9  least the five item requirement would give him some

         10  leeway, so there is a reasonable opportunity where

         11  he might not get that summons.

         12                 That's what we're saying here, and I

         13  think the Chairman McMahon has said this from the

         14  beginning at the outset that many of these bills

         15  here today are talking about being reasonable, being

         16  fair, so that New Yorkers don't seem to feel as if

         17  they have a target on their back.  In New York City

         18  in the form of ticket blitzing is out to hit those

         19  targets, and that's what New Yorkers feel now.

         20  They're not as concerned about setting bad

         21  precedent.  They're concerned about New York City

         22  being fair to them, and things happening beyond

         23  their control.  This five item plateau at least

         24  gives them some room so that they might avoid a

         25  ticket, and gives New York City and the Department
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          2  an opportunity to continue to enforce the law and

          3  recycling.  I think we're all on the same page on

          4  that.  We all want to do the right thing. Homeowners

          5  want to do the right thing, but you have to

          6  understand that you have to inject some

          7  reasonableness and fairness into this system.  Thank

          8  you, Mr. Chair.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Thank you,

         10  Council Member Gentile.  Next is Council Member

         11  Felder.  Oh, I'm sorry, I apologize.  Council Member

         12  Gallagher would like to vote.  I'd ask is the Clerk

         13  here?  Okay, there he is.

         14                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Reso 899, Council

         15  Member Gallagher?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Aye.

         17                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Final vote on Reso

         18  899 now stands at seven in the affirmative, one in

         19  the negative and zero abstentions. Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Thank you, and

         21  thank you to the Clerk and the fabulous staff in the

         22  Clerk's Office.  Next is Council Member Felder, who

         23  has Intro's Number 548 and 549.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Thank you

         25  very much, Chairman McMahon.  I want to thank you
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          2  and your staff, particularly Carmen Cognetta for

          3  working on these bills.  I very much appreciate it.

          4                 Before I say anything, I want to

          5  compliment the Commissioner and the entire staff for

          6  an extraordinary job that you've been doing whether

          7  it's through the winter, when people forget about it

          8  certainly during these hot days, for the snow

          9  removal, but all year round with the wonderful job

         10  that you and your Department are doing.  Having said

         11  that, I hope I feel an extraordinary amount of

         12  respect to you and your Department, but at the same

         13  time since we love each other that much, I feel the

         14  opportunity to have a very frank discussion with

         15  you, as something that you would appreciate as well,

         16  and that's why we'll just talk about things that are

         17  on my mind and that may be on yours as well.

         18                 So in order to do that, let me just

         19  say I read through the testimony, and I know that

         20  somebody on your staff, I hope, spent time preparing

         21  it for you because I can't believe that you would

         22  have prepared some of the stuff yourself.  So I'm

         23  just going to refer to your testimony, and we'll go

         24  through this piece by piece.

         25                 Item number one is the common idea

                                                            53

          1  SANITATION AND SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT

          2  that people have that your Department, as well as

          3  other departments in the City, issue tickets to

          4  raise revenue, not for compliance.  Now, I know that

          5  you know that that's not true.  But in your

          6  testimony when you talk about the fourth bill, Intro

          7  No. 549, which is my bill that you oppose, and you

          8  say, we oppose the bill.  You state as it is,

          9  today's current penalties do not deter persons from

         10  violating the law.  Would you be in favor of raising

         11  the penalties?  And will that prevent people from

         12  violating the law?  And if you do favor that, how

         13  much?  Should we give them $500 penalties?  $1,000

         14  penalties?  Should we take them away in shackles?  I

         15  mean, what do you recommend?

         16                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  My own words

         17  are coming back to haunt me, I can see that.  You

         18  know, the amount of a fine is always difficult to

         19  determine, to be honest with you.  We think that

         20  little increases here and there for certain

         21  violations are important because they do get people

         22  to think.  It's not always so much the amount that

         23  you're increasing the fine by.  But they hear it,

         24  and it rings a bell, and they think it's a lot, and

         25  they start to be a lot more careful about what they
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          2  do and what they don't do.              Some

          3  violations, of course, I think need to be high

          4  because of the severity of the violation.  Some of

          5  them, for various reasons, one could sit here and

          6  argue should it be $50, should it be $250?  How much

          7  it will affect somebody, I don't know. I think $25

          8  is almost a write off.  People won't think too much

          9  about it.  $50 it's a little bit, you know, they get

         10  a little bit more concerned about it.  I wouldn't

         11  try to sit here and try and argue out or discuss

         12  exactly what a particular fine would be.  I mean, we

         13  work with the Council.  We always have in the past

         14  on these fines, and I think they're reasonable for

         15  the most part.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  So I'm happy

         17  you agree with me, that $50 would tickle people a

         18  little bit, and I agree with you that we can't

         19  figure out exactly at what point somebody will

         20  continue to do something or not do something.  It

         21  depends on different people.  Some people a dollar

         22  is more or less, right? But I certainly feel that if

         23  the fine is not just to raise revenue but to do what

         24  you said, then the bill is a good bill because what

         25  it does is it tickles them.  And if the first time
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          2  they're not tickled, it scratches them a little

          3  harder, and it goes up as a person refuses to

          4  comply.

          5                 Now let's just go back for history's

          6  sake.  In 2004, thanks to the Chair in part and to

          7  the Speaker at that time, we passed a law 9 over a

          8  mayoral veto.  Could you explain what we did? Or

          9  would you prefer that I do it?

         10                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Was that when

         11  we went from $50 to $100?

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  That was when

         13  we cut down on the hours.

         14                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Oh, routing.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Yes.

         16                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  No, you can

         17  explain it from your point of view.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  No, I want it

         19  from your point of view, so I can ask you a question

         20  afterwards, if it's okay.

         21                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  What we did at

         22  the time, the Councilman is completely correct.  At

         23  that time, as with all violations, we could issue

         24  the violations 24 hours a day.  After working out

         25  with the Council, I mean, there's been many cuts on
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          2  this.  It really goes back to when we went to the

          3  routing periods with the commercial sector, and we

          4  said that we would only write summonses during two

          5  one- hour periods for certain violations.  And then

          6  that continued on so that it covered the residential

          7  buildings and the 8 to 9 in the morning and 12 to 1

          8  in the afternoon.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Very good.

         10  That was the right answer.  Now let me just say, in

         11  your testimony again on page three, the first

         12  paragraph, you never exaggerate, but whoever

         13  prepared this did this again.  You say at the last

         14  sentence in your paragraph it says, this is

         15  tantamount to repealing the most common quality of

         16  life sanitation infractions enacted over the past 50

         17  or so years by granting the public the right to

         18  disregard or disobey these laws 22 hours out of the

         19  day.  This is not correct because you know, and so

         20  does everyone else know, that as it stands now,

         21  there are two types of violations that you issue.

         22  The violations that we talked about we weren't able

         23  to issue before we started today.  22 hours of the

         24  day was out of the question before we started

         25  talking today, is that true?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  No, I think

          3  what the problem with this bill is that it includes

          4  all the violations under those sections.  Now the

          5  routing for both commercial and residential only

          6  included basically the dirty sidewalk and the 18

          7  inch.  I mean, the way this bill is written you're

          8  now saying that we can only go after somebody for

          9  littering during the two one- hour periods.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Excellent.

         11  That's what I wanted you to say.  Yes, now let's go

         12  through your testimony again because you say in it,

         13  and I'm sorry, Mr. Chair, but I'm not leading the

         14  witness.  I'm just trying to get a point across.  I

         15  don't think anybody in their right mind, and I'm

         16  certainly not in my right mind, but anybody else has

         17  a problem with your issuing summonses for somebody

         18  spilling liquids or materials from a truck or

         19  receptacle.  How many summonses have you issued like

         20  that, by the way for the last year?

         21                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Probably very

         22  few, probably less than one percent.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Okay, no,

         24  that was the right answer.  Next, how many summonses

         25  have you issued last year for releasing dust or
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          2  other flying material into the air?

          3                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Very small.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Very good.

          5  That's the right answer again.  How many tickets

          6  have you issued in the last year for releasing

          7  noxious liquids onto the sidewalk or street?

          8                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Not too many.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  All right, so

         10  let's cut it out.  You're a smart man.  We're not

         11  talking about this stuff, okay?  We will amend the

         12  bill, and the lawyers will work with you to amend

         13  the bill to cut out any of the ridiculous things

         14  that people, not only should be fined for, they

         15  should be locked up for, right?  And maybe they're

         16  supposed to be.  We're talking about dirty sidewalk

         17  and dirty area, right?  The dirty sidewalk we took

         18  here by creating two hours during the day where the

         19  agents are supposed to have an opportunity to issue

         20  those tickets.  The 8 to 9 hour that you chose made

         21  sense.  It gives people a chance to take care of

         22  that.  The 12 to 1 is absolutely bizarre because

         23  people have no way of taking care of that unless

         24  they go to work in the morning, come back home,

         25  clean up and go again.  So that doesn't make sense.
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          2  Now can you explain to us the difference between the

          3  dirty area and dirty sidewalk ticket?

          4                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  The dirty

          5  sidewalk is for litter and material on the sidewalk.

          6    The dirty area is for behind the sidewalk on the

          7  property that the agent can observe from the street.

          8    It could be a dirty front yard.  It could be a

          9  dirty alley way.  Or to some degree it could even be

         10  a dirty backyard if for some reason the agent can

         11  see it from the street.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  So, again, as

         13  the law exists today, the dirty sidewalk you're only

         14  allowed to issue two hours during the day, and one

         15  of those hours I have a big problem with, and so do

         16  about two- thirds of my colleagues.  The dirty area

         17  you issue any time of the day right now.  Why should

         18  the dirty area be any different?  Why should those

         19  violations be able to be issued any time of the day?

         20                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Because it's

         21  important to keep the areas clean.  I mean, a lot of

         22  times when you see dirt around the house, you get

         23  concerned about rat infestation and stuff like that.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Right, so in

         25  other words, if somebody has a garbage can that the
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          2  cover is, you know, a cat's hungry during the day,

          3  comes, knocks off the cover, you give them a ticket

          4  any time of the day, right?  If it's not covered?

          5                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Right, and I

          7  don't believe that that's fair.  I don't believe you

          8  should be able to issue any summonses during the

          9  times that people cannot correct the situation.  Now

         10  you said back to your old testimony, you said, sort

         11  of, for example, that you're able to issue those

         12  tickets 22 hours a day.  You don't issue tickets

         13  like that at 11 o'clock at night, 2 o'clock in the

         14  morning, do you?

         15                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Not normally.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Not normally.

         17    So, again, we don't want to exaggerate, right?

         18  We're talking about the work day, and we're talking

         19  about allowing people to be able to take care of

         20  what they're supposed to without the Department's

         21  agents being chintzy.  That's what's going on here,

         22  and you don't want that either.

         23                 So in terms of the routing hours, the

         24  first bill I believe that before I started talking

         25  to you, I wasn't as convinced about the merit of the
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          2  bill, but since you've answered my questions, now

          3  I'm sure that we're right and that whether it's

          4  dirty area, whether it's dirty sidewalk, there

          5  should be two times during the day that if someone

          6  is responsible to make sure that it's the way it

          7  should be, in the morning before they leave to work,

          8  at night when they come home.  Giving them summonses

          9  at times when there's no way that they control it,

         10  for example, if Simcha Felder walks by your house

         11  during the day and drops something, you can't do

         12  anything about it, so I think that this bill,

         13  despite my being the sponsor, is a very, very

         14  coherent, sensible, reasonable bill, would you agree

         15  to that?

         16                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  No.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Oh, okay.  I

         18  tried.  All right, but it is.  In your testimony,

         19  for example, you offer no objections to changing the

         20  routing hours from 12 to 1 to 6 to 7. Does that mean

         21  you agree to that?

         22                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  I can agree to

         23  that, yes.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Excellent.

         25  So we agree to something, that we should change it.
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          2  The only thing you don't agree is about including

          3  the other summonses?

          4                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Correct.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Right, but

          6  we're clear on the fact that the noxious fumes I

          7  feel, and I agree, you should raise the tickets,

          8  lock them up, do whatever you have to do if

          9  somebody's trying to kill people with garbage or

         10  doing some other things that are totally illegal.

         11  So we have some consensus on that.

         12                 Can you also just tell me one last

         13  thing, let's go back to -- so we're settled.  We

         14  almost agree on everything on the first bill.  The

         15  only difference is --

         16                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  When we see it

         17  in writing, we'll know how close we are.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  We are

         19  because we've excluded most of your testimony

         20  because you've agreed it doesn't make sense.

         21                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Very good.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Okay.  Now,

         23  549.

         24                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Before we get

         25  off that one, I want to sure.  What are you saying
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          2  that we would to include in the change in the

          3  routing times?  We'll change the routing time, we'll

          4  work with you on that.  What violations do you say

          5  you want to include in that then?

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  I'm talking

          7  about the on premises violations.

          8                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Dirty

          9  sidewalk, 18 inch --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  The dirty

         11  area, that's correct.

         12                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Okay, one

         13  thing I'd like --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Failure to

         15  cover a receptacle.  I'm not talking about the stuff

         16  that everybody understands should be issued.  Let me

         17  just re- define this.  I think this is really where

         18  the heart of this whole thing goes.  The issue is,

         19  that it's very difficult for the Department to issue

         20  summonses for the littering action.  When I was a

         21  kid, and I've told you this at least twice, maybe

         22  once publicly, and I went with my mother to 42nd

         23  Street, I took a tissue, blew my nose and dropped it

         24  on the floor.  I got a pinch in my behind that I

         25  still feel to this day, and that's why I don't throw
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          2  stuff on the floor.  I'm afraid she'll pinch me

          3  again even though she's not right there.  Okay?

          4  We're talking about the littering action.  That's

          5  the way you get compliance, and that's very hard,

          6  but that doesn't mean you should issue those

          7  summonses for receptacles and dirty area to

          8  homeowners when they're not home.  That's what we're

          9  talking about, not the other examples, all right?

         10                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Okay.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Now with 548,

         12  since -- I'm sorry 549, since you've agreed in

         13  principle that the summonses do not, and I'll read

         14  it again just for emphasis because I love this,

         15  Commissioner.  I like quoting you whenever I can.

         16  As it is today's current penalties do not deter

         17  persons for violating the law.  If that is the case,

         18  then you must agree that the tickets are not for

         19  compliance, they're to raise revenue.  But you said

         20  earlier that that's not true, and you even gave an

         21  example that a $50 ticket would tickle somebody.

         22  $25 today maybe not.  And all that we're saying is

         23  what you say.  I say what Commissioner Doherty says.

         24    I say we got to tickle them.

         25                 But if somebody's on, for example, an
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          2  elderly, a senior citizen or somebody who is on a

          3  fixed income, disabled, they should get a tickle,

          4  but them $25 on a fixed income means a lot. And

          5  that's why, if they're eligible for heat programs

          6  and others, it would be a very easy thing to fix

          7  into the system either that they get it afterwards.

          8  You know, they could show that they are part of the

          9  system, they should be discounted, and that people

         10  for the first summons I disagree with my colleague,

         11  Councilman Yassky, respectfully, even though it may

         12  be politically savvy, and I'm sure that's not the

         13  reason he did.  He feels in his heart that somebody

         14  who gets a summons shouldn't get a warning in my

         15  mind because, just like you don't warn somebody, and

         16  it's not a perfect analogy, saying to somebody you

         17  can't go through a red light and give somebody, the

         18  law's been, I agree with you, on the books for a

         19  long time, and if you litter, there's no warnings

         20  necessary in my mind.              But on the other

         21  hand, smacking them in the face with a $50 summons

         22  the first time is not fair.  I'm sorry?  $100, $100

         23  summons the first time, and it should be a gradual

         24  increase. You give them a $50 first time, seniors

         25  and disabled get a 50 percent discount, and if
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          2  somebody is not in compliance over and over and over

          3  again, it increases as time goes on.  I'm hopeful

          4  that you will agree after you see the light on this

          5  one as well. Thank you.  I apologize for taking up

          6  the time, Chair, but it was two bills, and I spent a

          7  lot of time on these.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  We're going to

          9  send you two checks for the two bills.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Okay, but not

         11  more than $50, please.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  We're just not

         13  clear where we are with the routing, the second

         14  hour.

         15                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Yes.  They're

         16  looking for what, 6 to 7?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  That's

         18  correct.

         19                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Yes, we can

         20  work with that. I can work with that.  I think on

         21  the second bill, 549, two points. Although we go

         22  back and forth about what the right amount is, I

         23  mean, I think in many ways this hearing, what

         24  prompted this hearing was the complaint to many of

         25  the Councilmen that people were getting too many
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          2  tickets.  Now I think too many tickets is different

          3  from $50 or $100.  I don't know that there's a tie,

          4  so one goes back and says people complain to you.

          5  Is it always so much the amount, or geez, I got

          6  another ticket or something like that?  It's food

          7  for thought.  I'm looking for an answer for that.

          8  The second part of it is when you talk about

          9  seniors, one has to be very careful about that.  If

         10  I am a senior, which I am, and I own an apartment

         11  house, does that mean I don't get a summons?  So I

         12  think the language you put in there you have to be

         13  careful about.

         14                 Two, I'm not going to argue about it,

         15  but you know some seniors in their 70's can handle

         16  their property and do well at it, do well doing it,

         17  but the big point is, ECB is the one that has to get

         18  involved with this because they have to, if this was

         19  to pass, take on that additional burden.  It's

         20  nothing to us.  We just go out and write the

         21  summons.  It would have to be at the ECB end where

         22  the person would come in as they would if they want

         23  to plea their case to say, hey, I fall into this

         24  category that is set up in the bill.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Can I respond
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          2  to that quickly?  Very quickly.  I just want to say

          3  that I agree with you entirely that this should

          4  apply to one and two, three- family homeowners in my

          5  mind.  I mean, the Chair and the lawyers have to

          6  talk about it, but I agree with you about that.  In

          7  terms of the eligibility, it's not everyone that

          8  gets the break, it's only someone who's

          9  automatically eligible on our rolls right now for

         10  heap, so that would apply to elderly seniors,

         11  homeowner exemptions that exist now.  I'm sorry, the

         12  homeowner exemptions that exist now, so that would

         13  address the other part of what you're talking about.

         14    And if it happens to be that there's a 70- year-

         15  old who's able to do, that's wonderful, but the fact

         16  that this is supposed to help seniors in general and

         17  those that are disabled that a $100 smack is really

         18  a lot of money.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  I just want to

         20  state from the other side though it's important that

         21  we find the right balance in this because we want

         22  good common sense enforcement, but we also want

         23  clean streets.  We have to make sure, because there

         24  are certainly, in my opinion, there are many streets

         25  where tickets should be given because the owners are
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          2  callous or in disregard for the law, so we will

          3  certainly work with the Commissioner and Council

          4  Member Felder to come up with a good approach, but

          5  one that will make sure the streets stay clean.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  I just wanted

          7  to thank.  I have two elderly Holocaust survivors,

          8  Mr. And Mrs. Adler who schlepped in for the

          9  testimony today.  I want to thank them for coming.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  We thank them

         11  as well. Council Member Nelson?

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  We now resume

         13  our regularly scheduled programming.  Okay.  Now to

         14  the duller portion.  I have many dozens of horror

         15  stories too.  Some of your very able, the members of

         16  your staff, were already in my neck of the woods,

         17  you know, First Deputy Commissioner Mike Bimonte and

         18  also Major General Todd Kuznitz.  I see two stars.

         19  I'm a veteran chief.

         20                 584, what it does, in effect, it

         21  alleviates some of the confusion of dirty sidewalks

         22  and helps homeowners in disputes. We do want to help

         23  the property owners as well.  You may be a

         24  homeowner, or you certainly know some homeowners, so

         25  hopefully you can put yourselves in their shoes.  I
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          2  implore you to be empathic or sympathetic for them.

          3                 Currently, I read your testimony,

          4  there's no technology, but you know to adhere to the

          5  intro, but as professional and resourceful and

          6  competent, as I know you and your staff are, it

          7  would not be that heavy a lift, or I don't believe

          8  that expensive, if the 1,400 cameras involved, I

          9  would imagine, in bulk sales you could probably get

         10  them for $50 nowadays or perhaps even less.

         11  Although the way the City purchases things

         12  sometimes, maybe I'm wrong with that, but if they

         13  actually did it the way the average consumer would

         14  do it in buying 1,400 cameras, it probably would be

         15  under $100,000 or maybe $120,000 or $130,000

         16  overall, and the computer aspect of it too I was

         17  going to ask you to address, as well the potentials

         18  for that cost.  Because many of our citizens are

         19  really hurting, many unfairly, although albeit maybe

         20  legally. But in many cases they have been hurting in

         21  the pocketbook, and it does appear many times that

         22  it is just a money grab despite what we may say

         23  ourselves.  But just prior to the answer, can I go

         24  into this for just a second?  Just briefly for this,

         25  or should I do it afterwards?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Sure.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Okay, as an

          4  aside, sidebar. These things I want to block the

          5  telephone number.  I don't want to give them a plug,

          6  but this is popping up all over the City.  This is

          7  just one of them.  We have about 100 in the office,

          8  but there's others as well.  You probably have seen

          9  them around.  Here's Roma going out of business.

         10  That pops up every once in awhile.  Some people go

         11  out of business for about 14 or 15 years.  All of

         12  these together could make you lose your stomach.

         13  All these signs could make you lose your stomach.

         14  So what I was also going to ask for, of course, is a

         15  crackdown.  Those people who are making money off of

         16  the special, and they know what they're doing, and

         17  they're also in Stern's days, you would try to kill

         18  them for killing trees, and of course our street

         19  signs, lamp posts and everything else.  So that's as

         20  an aside, and I know the Chief has written that

         21  down, I'm sure and the First Deputy Commissioner as

         22  well.

         23                 But anyway to get back to what 584

         24  would do, it would alleviate, I think, a lot of

         25  problems.  And, of course, as always, it would
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          2  create other problems.  Good legislation sometimes

          3  does that.  I will just proceed to you,

          4  Commissioner.

          5                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Well, let me

          6  just go back to the signage.  Just so you should

          7  know, the Chief has increased the squad of people

          8  that handle the poster ring, those signs that you're

          9  talking about.  This year, to date, we've issued

         10  over 28,000 violations for that.  So that's a

         11  courier that we're after quite a bit, and we do take

         12  it very seriously, and we're doing a lot of writing

         13  on that.

         14                 A couple of issues on the camera.  If

         15  one wants to use that picture to tie the violation

         16  to the premises, that's very, very difficult to do.

         17  One, if I'm taking a picture of a dirty sidewalk, am

         18  I going to have the address of the home in that

         19  picture?  If I take them separately, what is to

         20  assure someone that that address and the picture of

         21  the dirty sidewalk goes together? So that's kind of

         22  a technical issue that, but an important issue,

         23  because I think it leaves room for a lot of

         24  violations to be thrown out.

         25                 We're basically doing the same thing
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          2  by the officer that issues the summons attesting to

          3  what he observed.  Now somebody's going to take the

          4  picture, and the officer has to attest, oh, yes,

          5  that's the picture of what I saw.  So I think

          6  there's certain issues there with doing that.

          7                 And the technology is quite

          8  difficult, and this is something here again where

          9  ECB has to get involved.  We are still completing

         10  our handheld computer system of writing violations,

         11  and we want to expand that to other units because it

         12  allows us to gather more information rather quickly

         13  because everything is in the computer.  We can

         14  download it.  We can get our reports out.  And it

         15  allows more efficiency at ECB to receive the

         16  information and it be available to the ALJ's.  They

         17  can bring it up right on the screen when they're

         18  having a hearing with the particular person that may

         19  come in.  To add pictures into it, nobody has even

         20  looked at that yet.  So just to say, you know, we

         21  put people on a moon, so something can be done.

         22  What does it take to do that?  How long will it

         23  take?  It's a Big If, and I don't have answers for

         24  that, so putting legislation in for that does create

         25  a problem for us.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  I realize

          3  it's in the embryonic stage.

          4                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Yes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  You would, I

          6  would imagine, feel it would make enforce and

          7  adjudication fairer and more consistent if we got to

          8  that point, albeit somewhat more troublesome?

          9                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Well, let me

         10  just add that the Chief and the First Deputy,

         11  although it's always been in their training, they

         12  recently went out and took pictures of violations,

         13  and they're using these pictures, they basically

         14  updated what they had to get better pictures, and

         15  they used these pictures as a guide to the

         16  enforcement personnel.  It's similar to what we do

         17  with the Mayor's Office of Operations does with

         18  scorecard.  They have a picture of what a block

         19  looks like and how it should be rated.  The

         20  enforcement agents see pictures of violations and

         21  they're guided by that, that that is a violation and

         22  that's not a violation.

         23                 So we do have something in the

         24  training program, but to add a camera to the

         25  enforcement agent with everything else they
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          2  carrying, and then try and transmit that and match

          3  it to the summons, and transmit it to ECB, there's a

          4  big leap in faith there to see that that can happen.

          5    Technically, it's a major issue.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Right, so

          7  it's in the beginning process.  It should be in the

          8  process going towards the goal perhaps that might be

          9  an ultimate way of dealing with it, although, of

         10  course, that could always be fudged as well, I

         11  understand, and I know the address might be, of

         12  course, you couldn't take it over here and not

         13  necessarily get the address in as well.  I would

         14  understand that overall.  If you can come up with an

         15  approximate cost for that that would be helpful for

         16  both sides as well.

         17                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Well, I think

         18  we will talk to ECB and they really have to tell you

         19  what their take on it is, and I don't know, we will

         20  ask some of our consultants what they think is

         21  doable and what's it like.  I know even putting our

         22  Nova system, our handheld computer in place, has

         23  taken us a number of years. How many years have we

         24  been working on that, probably about four years.

         25  That took a long time.  And we still haven't got all
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          2  the bugs out of it, not as far as the violations go,

          3  but as I mentioned earlier, the idea of getting the

          4  number of items of waste that are in the recycling

          5  can, or something like that.  We haven't quite

          6  worked that piece out yet.  So it is difficult to

          7  do.  It's not that easy, believe me.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Well, I

          9  appreciate that input, and we'll be working together

         10  on this as we go, and the technological part of it

         11  as well, and I do appreciate again your Department

         12  coming to my area.  I think it's alleviated a number

         13  of problems as well, and we'll have a follow up on

         14  that in the fall, and also I appreciate this

         15  graffiti signage which is really disseminating our

         16  area as well.  I thank you for that, and I thank the

         17  Chair.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Thank you,

         19  Council Member Nelson.  We did a few years ago amend

         20  the law to make each poster of violations.  I think

         21  that that makes the Chief's job a lot easier in

         22  terms of enforcement.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  That includes

         24  politicians who hang up their stuff all over the

         25  place too.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  They've got

          3  the violations too.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Good.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  In fact, the

          6  Mayor's very own campaign got a violation.  That's

          7  equal opportunity enforcement from the Department.

          8  We've been joined by Council Member Gale Brewer and

          9  Council Member David Yassky.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  I would just

         11  start by echoing, I won't repeat them, but I agree

         12  with virtually all of what my colleague, Simcha

         13  Felder, said and some of the other Council Members

         14  here as well just about the fundamental issue of

         15  whether these tickets serve any real purpose or not

         16  other than raising revenue.  I am convinced,

         17  Commissioner, that they do not.              Your

         18  statement says if we effectively repealed, so I

         19  guess even if we actually repealed, tickets for

         20  dirty sidewalk and failure to clean 18 inches of

         21  street, that we would go back to the bad old days.

         22  I just simply do not believe that homeowners keep

         23  their streets and sidewalks because of the fear of

         24  tickets. The ones who are diligent and vigilant are

         25  because they care about their neighborhood, and that
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          2  includes the vast bulk of New Yorkers. Those who are

          3  not, it's not the fear of a ticket.

          4                 You say that getting a ticket, even

          5  if it's a $50 or $100 ticket, reminds people and

          6  wakes them up.  I don't think so. I don't think

          7  people would come home from work and see litter in

          8  front of their house, they don't need a ticket to be

          9  reminded of that.  They don't like that.  If they

         10  take it upon themselves to clean up, that's great.

         11                 But it's not the ticket that reminds,

         12  it's their pride in their neighborhood, and all that

         13  these tickets serve to do is squeeze some revenue

         14  out of New Yorkers, for most of whom it is pinch,

         15  and to erode their belief in government.  I have to

         16  tell you, when people see government doing something

         17  that they regard as irrational, it erodes their

         18  support for everything we try and do here and that's

         19  why these tickets in my view are so destructive.   I

         20  know you've been to dozens of community board

         21  meetings, so you're familiar with these

         22  institutions.  People who serve on community boards,

         23  these are people who care about their neighborhoods.

         24    They don't want them to get dirty.  They don't

         25  want dirty streets.  They are, if anything, some of

                                                            79

          1  SANITATION AND SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT

          2  the most active complainers about dirty conditions.

          3  So far, ten community boards in the City have taken

          4  it upon themselves to endorse Intro whatever the

          5  number of it is, the one I've introduced here on

          6  scaling back the tickets, 382, is my belief, is

          7  Carmen Cognetta's belief.  I accept it.

          8                 Here's some of the letters.  Dear

          9  Council Member McMahon, we have reviewed and made a

         10  determination to support Intro 382.  It is common

         11  for homeowners to complain to the Community Board's

         12  District Office about receiving notices of violation

         13  for litter despite conscientious efforts to maintain

         14  their property. That's Community Board Two,

         15  Brooklyn.

         16                 Community Board 16, over the years we

         17  have received a number of complaints from homeowners

         18  who received summonses while they are away from

         19  their property having left the sidewalk clear of

         20  litter.  We feel that Intro 382 will address the

         21  unfair treatment of homeowners.

         22                 Community Board Four in the Bronx,

         23  one in Brooklyn, 11 in Brooklyn, 16 in Brooklyn I

         24  just read, 17 in Brooklyn, 6 in Brooklyn, 8 in

         25  Brooklyn, 6 in Manhattan and 2 in Queens.  So this
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          2  is throughout the City, and these are the homeowner

          3  neighborhoods, many of them, that our efforts are

          4  focused on here.

          5                 So I guess I want to put that out to

          6  you and ask you to really think hard about whether

          7  these tickets do serve a sanitation purpose.  Your

          8  Department does a terrific job in taking away the

          9  garbage that we do and your folks cleaning the

         10  streets. I don't think these tickets add one iota to

         11  your efforts, and they only serve to aggravate our

         12  constituents, so I would ask you to re think the

         13  position that you've laid out.

         14                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  I disagree

         15  with you, but I was looking at something here I

         16  looked at earlier on violations. I'm looking at one

         17  particular violation, the 16- 118, which covers the

         18  littering, the dirty sidewalk and various other

         19  violations in there.  In the period from 2000 to

         20  2003, which is the period when the fines were $50,

         21  we wrote on average during those four years 235,000

         22  violations.  That's a combination of all of them,

         23  little ones and big ones.  In the three years

         24  following that, it went to $100, which is 204 to

         25  206, it went down to 182,000, so to me that I think
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          2  says something about the increased fines.  Can I tie

          3  it to it directly?  No, but we did see at $50 we

          4  wrote more, went to $100 and there was less

          5  summonses being written out there.  I think that

          6  says something.  Is it the complete answer?

          7  Probably not, but I think if we ever walked away and

          8  just went with warnings, we just wouldn't get the

          9  City clean.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  To be clear,

         11  what I'm saying is a warning for the first time

         12  because I would like your Department, I believe your

         13  Department should have the ability to go after with

         14  sanctions people who are truly irresponsible

         15  homeowners. That's all.  I think Simcha Felder said

         16  this is really all about having some common sense in

         17  enforcement.

         18                 The evidence that comes to my office

         19  regularly and to the community board offices as

         20  they've outlined with their votes, by the way, these

         21  are unanimous votes supporting this.  So that's 50

         22  people on a community board, all of whom spend a lot

         23  of their time thinking about this stuff.  They don't

         24  want their streets to get dirty, but they don't see

         25  the kind of common sense and enforcement that they
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          2  would like to see and that we need because sure,

          3  somebody who's their front yard, if they have a

          4  stoop or front yard area is a pig sty, and they

          5  should be able to do something about it.  You should

          6  be able to go after that.

          7                 But the average homeowner who goes to

          8  work and somebody leaves some litter in front of

          9  their building, and they come home to find not just

         10  the litter but the ticket to boot, it's just simply

         11  not right.  On the routing hours, I would say, by

         12  all means, 6 or 7 would be better, I suppose, than

         13  12 to 1 because it would give people a little bit of

         14  opportunity, but I don't think it will result in the

         15  number of summonses that are issued.  We did that

         16  once before a couple of years ago, as we talked

         17  about, we passed it to create just the two hours.

         18  The numbers show, in fact, I think this year you're

         19  on track for '07 to issue more tickets than last

         20  year.

         21                 I don't think we go out to people and

         22  we say, okay, we're scaling back on this, and then

         23  they see the same number of tickets being issued.

         24  That makes people cynical, and I would caution us

         25  against doing something if it's not going to reduce
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          2  the impact that people see out there in the world.

          3  Because then they just get cynical.

          4                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  You know,

          5  giving warnings that I said we vehemently disagree

          6  with that warning issue because you're going to try

          7  and go back.  Okay, who did I give the warning to?

          8  How did I give the warning out?  And how did I track

          9  the warning?  In other words, I go up to the house,

         10  nobody answers the door, so I leave the warning on

         11  the door.  Are they going to say, oh, I didn't see

         12  that warning, it wasn't there, I don't know, it blew

         13  away, it's part of the letter on my neighbor's

         14  house.  You know, these are the issues.  Warnings

         15  really do not solve the problem, and I still believe

         16  that many of the complaints that Council Members are

         17  hearing are from people that are saying I got

         18  another summons.  So that's part of the problem.

         19  They already got a summons, and they didn't take

         20  that as a warning, they got a second or a third

         21  summons because they don't listen or they don't take

         22  care of their property.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Well, we do,

         24  and I won't drag this out, Mr. Chair.  I think we do

         25  have fundamental disagreement, you and I, and I
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          2  don't know how many Council Members share my view as

          3  to the utility of the tickets.  I agree with you. A

          4  number of people get multiple summonses.  Those from

          5  the people that call me what they say, and I have no

          6  reason to think it's not the case, that they're

          7  people who live in the middle of the block where

          8  there's a Dunkin Donuts on the corner or it's on the

          9  way to the subway, and, they do, routinely people

         10  are dropping things in front of their house.  That's

         11  terrible, and the litterbugs are acting

         12  disgracefully, and if Simcha's mother was around to

         13  pinch them, that's what we need.  But it's not the

         14  fault of the homeowner.  It's not fair.  It's not

         15  right for us because we see a problem we want to do

         16  something about it to penalize somebody where it's

         17  really not their fault.

         18                 The last question that I would ask

         19  is, this shouldn't be about revenue, and so all I

         20  would ask is in both private discussions or

         21  discussions with the Council, staff to staff, that

         22  aren't in the public or on the record, as well as in

         23  the public, I really don't think that revenue should

         24  be an issue.             In other words, I would ask

         25  you that the Department not, when the Council
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          2  approaches the Department and the Administration

          3  about changing these rules, that it's not a

          4  legitimate response to say, well, that would cost us

          5  X million dollars in revenue because that's not the

          6  purpose here, right?  I mean, if the revenue from a

          7  tax goes down, we don't say, okay, now we got to go

          8  out and raise the tax rate on the remaining people.

          9  We deal with that.

         10                 This is not about collecting revenue.

         11    The only purpose here, the only legitimate purpose

         12  is street cleanliness. I'm not saying that you have

         13  done this, but when the Council has reached out to

         14  the Administration on this issue, sometimes the

         15  Administration has come back and said, well, that

         16  would cost money, and we can't accept that cost.  I

         17  think that's not a legitimate argument, so I would

         18  ask you to agree with me to take that issue off the

         19  table.

         20                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Well, I agree

         21  from the viewpoint that we're out there writing

         22  violations and people are getting fined so that we

         23  can get cleaner streets and cleaner neighborhoods.

         24  I think the issue on the revenue is not, per se, my

         25  issue.  I think that's an issue, as you said,
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          2  between the Administration and the Council.  Both of

          3  you have to agree on a budget.  Certain items go

          4  into a budget and fortunately or unfortunately

          5  revenue is part of that budget.  So getting beyond

          6  Sanitation, our issue is clean streets, and that's

          7  why we write summonses.  I don't see any of that

          8  revenue.  It doesn't mean anything to me.  It

          9  doesn't give me any extra sanitation workers or

         10  anything, so it's not, per se, my issue.  It's a

         11  City issue, don't get me wrong, and it's something

         12  that I think the Council and the Administration both

         13  have to work on, per se.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  I'm just

         15  saying it's not a legitimate source of opposition to

         16  any of these bills because it shouldn't be treated

         17  as revenue raisers or things that are there to get

         18  revenue.  If the right policy results in a loss of

         19  revenue, that's got to be dealt with in the budget,

         20  but it's not a reason not to do this.  Thank you,

         21  Mr. Chair.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Thank you,

         23  Council Member. And then the last bill is Intro 582,

         24  which would establish a system for enforcement

         25  against those who remove recycling material from the
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          2  curbside when they use a motor vehicle to do same.

          3  So the idea would be to without going after weak

          4  hand or the street entrepreneurs, but this is going

          5  after those who are in the business of collecting

          6  the recycling and then selling it for profit.

          7                 If you could, Commissioner, what

          8  reports do you have from the folks out in the field

          9  about things missing?  Of the recycling that's

         10  missing?

         11                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  We basically

         12  hear about it outside of the homeless.  We basically

         13  hear about it at larger buildings where it's a lot

         14  more noticeable that a building that normally put

         15  out a couple piles of paper on a recycling

         16  collection day, we don't see any, and we check with

         17  the building, and we find it's gone.

         18                 That's where we notice it for the

         19  most part, and it makes sense.  If you're going to

         20  out and take this paper, scavenge it, steal it,

         21  scalp it, whatever you want to call it, it's going

         22  to be at a large stop, so you can get it and run.

         23  So it's growing.              It's also growing in

         24  the commercial sector, particularly with the

         25  corrugated.  Many of the commercial people have been
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          2  complaining about that.  I think we estimated at one

          3  time when paper was up to about $100 a ton in the

          4  marketplace, we estimated we lost about 30 percent

          5  of it at that time and being that the paper market

          6  and even the metal markets are cyclical, if we get

          7  to a high point again without any legislation, it

          8  really cuts into the City's numbers when we go to

          9  look at how well are we doing as far as recycling

         10  and trying to meet the mandates and goals that we

         11  have.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  We have a

         13  statement from the National Solid Waste Management

         14  Association, which represents the private

         15  commercials, and they support the bill and also say

         16  that some of their members are losing up to 100,000

         17  pounds of cardboard each month.  That's the size of

         18  the problem, so we will submit that into the record.

         19

         20                 How about in your collection numbers?

         21    I think we have the reports for April of '07 which

         22  shows in particular in Manhattan 5, 6, 7, 8

         23  reductions from 11 up to 25 percent in the

         24  collection of paper.  Would you explain it for that

         25  reason?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Well, there

          3  are areas that generate a lot of papers, no question

          4  about it.  Is it entirely due to theft?  To some

          5  degree, definitely.  We know we have observed vans

          6  there.  The Chief can probably talk about it more.

          7  I know he's issued a number of summonses, but he has

          8  found that times that they go around a corner and

          9  they start grabbing another block before we can get

         10  to them.  It's $100 fine, and I guess if they're

         11  able to collect enough paper at night, and the paper

         12  market is starting to climb up again, it's worth it

         13  to take the summons and the fact is, do they ever

         14  answer the summons?  And how do you track them down?

         15    So some of them are just adding that summons to

         16  their paper and getting paid for it.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Well, that's

         18  why we are proposing to impound the vehicles.

         19                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Absolutely.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Do you know

         21  where they're selling it?  The scavengers where they

         22  sell it?

         23                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Well, they're

         24  probably, there's a number of paper dealers around

         25  the City.  I don't know how many for sure.  We deal
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          2  with about seven of them or so.  Some of them are

          3  maybe going to them.  They may have other.  There

          4  are a number of paper people around.  And they may

          5  be going outside the City too.  Maybe going over to

          6  Jersey.  Maybe there's better markets there, I don't

          7  know.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Right.  I guess

          9  it proves the old adage, right, that one man's trash

         10  is another man's treasure? Council Member Brewer?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Thank you.  I

         12  have a question about this because I felt like the

         13  Martians had invaded because we received a lot of

         14  phone calls in the neighborhood on the west side.

         15  Out of state vans, not just picking up, going

         16  through the paper.  This is the paper that would

         17  have your bills in it in the residential.  So I

         18  called the District Attorney's Office, and they sent

         19  out, to their credit, undercover investigators

         20  standing on street corners and Margaret Thel's

         21  (phonetic) office, which has a very expert

         22  investigative office, and a very expert identity

         23  theft office because, needless to say, the people

         24  who called were concerned about identity theft.

         25                 The report back that I got was that
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          2  what was going on was not illegal, and they left.  I

          3  even had the New York Times undercover people there.

          4    So I'm just telling you that.  I was under the

          5  impression that this was fine, so maybe you should

          6  talk to the District Attorney's Office.  Everybody's

          7  very concerned that these people, not so much as we

          8  would say in this Committee worried about recycling.

          9    They're worried about their information going to,

         10  I think it was a North Carolina license plate, and

         11  they were worried that that would then be sold

         12  because they weren't thinking about recycling.  They

         13  were thinking about identity theft.  So I just

         14  didn't know.  If it's legal or not legal, it's

         15  continuing every single day.

         16                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  It's illegal.

         17  We're issuing summonses for it now.  I think the

         18  legislation that's proposed by the Chairman, is

         19  something that puts more teeth in it, and it's very

         20  important.  I think the issue on identification

         21  theft is an important one, and I think that's what

         22  hurts to some degree, I can't quantify exactly what

         23  percent, but our recycling goals because people are

         24  afraid, for whatever reason, to put anything with

         25  their name in their recycling unless they can shred
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          2  it.  They figure it's safer in a garbage bag.  I

          3  don't know that it is, but I do know it's easier to

          4  find somebody's I.D. in with papers if you're going

          5  to sort it rather than going through their garbage.

          6  But it does impact.  People are afraid to put it in.

          7    I believe more and more, I've seen more and more

          8  people, these friends of mine, that now have

          9  purchased little home shredders just to address that

         10  problem.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  All right,

         12  but maybe you want to have a discussion with the

         13  District Attorneys because they're under the

         14  impression that this is not illegal.

         15                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Okay, if they

         16  check in with us, we'll definitely get it.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Okay, we thank

         18  you very much. I just want to pay a public

         19  compliment I guess to Mr. Lange's (phonetic) office

         20  and you, Commissioner, we love our new recycling

         21  packets that have come out.  I don't know if they've

         22  hit across the City, but they've hit across Staten

         23  Island in any event.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  They hit

         25  Manhattan.  They're very good.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  And they hit

          3  Manhattan as well.  Me, I can say things, but when

          4  Gale Brewer says that they're very good, you know

          5  that they're very good because she wouldn't mince

          6  her words, especially the post is very good.

          7                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  It's a nice

          8  stick- on.  You peel that off, you stick it on.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Yes, we think

         10  it's great. It's very understandable with colors.  A

         11  lot of information, so we hope you keep sending it

         12  out every year, and we'll look forward to working

         13  with you to get the resources to do that.

         14                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  I would hope

         15  that you would question all your friends and anybody

         16  you meet that you get your packet.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Sure, I will.

         18                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  That way, when

         19  you hear everybody saying they received it, when you

         20  get the complaint, I didn't know, you can say, wait

         21  a minute, didn't you tell me you received your

         22  packet?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Yes, you got

         24  your packet. There's no excuse now.  Ignorance is

         25  certainly not an excuse, so we thank you guys,
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          2  gentlemen, for coming.  We look forward to working

          3  with you on these and many other matters to keep our

          4  City clean because we all know a clean City is a

          5  happy, safe and happy City. There you go.  Thank

          6  you.

          7                 Okay.  We have one panel, Eric

          8  Goldstein, from the National Resources Defense

          9  Council and Joseph Garber.  Hold on one second, Mr.

         10  Goldstein, before we, it's nice to see you again.

         11  Go ahead, sir.  The floor is years.  Please state

         12  your name and affiliation for the record.

         13                 MR. GOLDSTEIN:  Good afternoon, Mr.

         14  Chairman and Council Members.  My name is Eric

         15  Goldstein, and I'm an attorney with the Natural

         16  Resources Defense Council, and I'm here today

         17  primarily to strongly endorse Intro 582.

         18                 Recycling has indeed come a long way.

         19    When the concept was initially discussed in city

         20  government back in the mid 1980's, many people both

         21  inside and outside of government complained that

         22  this initiative would never succeed and that there

         23  would never be a market for recyclable products.  In

         24  the mid- 1990's John Tierney wrote a very famous

         25  Sunday Times Magazine story called "Recycling is
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          2  Garbage" and he too re- stated the fact that there

          3  would never be markets for recyclable materials.

          4  Boy, how things have changed.

          5                 Today we have Visy Paper Mill on

          6  Staten Island, and it's paying New Yorkers for

          7  thousands of tons of recycled papers brought to its

          8  facility.  It's employing hundreds of New Yorkers,

          9  and we're turning those old resources into new

         10  products.  Sims Hugo Nu is constructing a major new

         11  facility in Brooklyn to sort metals, glass and

         12  plastic.  They're about to enter a 20- year contract

         13  that will pay the City for the recyclables that it

         14  delivers.

         15                 According to the commodity markets,

         16  we're now nationwide paying $100 a ton for

         17  newspaper, over $100 a ton for newspapers, nearly

         18  $100 a ton for mixed papers, $1,800 a ton for

         19  aluminum cans for $320 a ton for PET bottles.

         20  That's what the markets are now paying for these

         21  recyclables.  So they are valuable.

         22                 They're so valuable, in fact, that

         23  rustlers of recycling are now riding down City

         24  streets and stealing materials placed out for

         25  collection and depriving taxpayers of the economic
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          2  value.  The existing laws are inadequate in terms of

          3  disincentives, and Intro 582 is well designed to

          4  address this problem.  We support it for three

          5  reasons.

          6                 First, it would serve as a strong

          7  economic deterrent to secure compliance with the

          8  existing laws, which prohibit interference with the

          9  Sanitation Department collection of recyclables.

         10                 Second, the legislation widely

         11  excludes the homeless and other low income

         12  individuals who scavenge and instead it's targeted

         13  and commercial enterprises stealing recyclables on a

         14  high volume basis.

         15                 Third, the legislation will prove to

         16  make the New York City's recycling program more cost

         17  effective by ensuring that valuable recyclable

         18  commodities placed out for collection by New Yorkers

         19  actually make it to the recycling handlers.

         20                 So we strongly support this

         21  legislation.  It has our enthusiastic endorsement,

         22  and we thank you, Mr. Chairman, and Carmen and Dan

         23  for advancing it.

         24                 Three final points.  We also support

         25  Intro 110, which provides increasing fines for
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          2  dumping households or commercial refuse into public

          3  litter baskets.

          4                 We support Resolution 899, which

          5  calls upon the state legislature to amend the Hudson

          6  River Park Act.  This is a key element to the Solid

          7  Waste Management Plan.  It's essential that

          8  Manhattan take its fair share burdens of the waste

          9  handling facilities, and we believe using a small

         10  portion of the Gansevoort Peninsula for recycling

         11  transfer facility is fully compatible with the

         12  concept of using Gansevoort as an urban waterfront

         13  park.

         14                 Finally, we oppose Intro 215, which

         15  would require that at least five items be improperly

         16  sorted before a recycling violation could be issued

         17  to owners of one and two- family households.  We

         18  understand the Council's desire to protect the

         19  public from irrational or hyper- aggressive DOS

         20  ticketing practices, but we believe this legislation

         21  tips the balance too far.  It gives homeowners a

         22  permanent free pass to continue non- compliance with

         23  recycling.

         24                 It also has what we believe is a

         25  significant technical problem.  The term "items" is
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          2  not defined in the legislation.  Would the New York

          3  Sunday Times be one item, or would each section be

          4  an item?  Is a corrugated box that packages a

          5  refrigerator one item?  Is a paper sandwich bag one

          6  item?  So in the event that this legislation would

          7  move forward, we strongly suggest that the term

          8   "items" be defined.

          9                 In any event, the better way to

         10  address the situation is improved public education,

         11  which the Council is moving forward on significantly

         12  and sensible DOS enforcement practices. That's not

         13  always an easy thing to accomplish, but we believe

         14  that both of those initiatives can and should be

         15  achieved and that legislation, which provides

         16  permanent permission to mix valuable recycles with

         17  non- recyclables is not the best way to go.  We

         18  thank you and the Council staff for your continuing

         19  great efforts on this whole program.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Thank you, sir,

         21  and thank you for your continued advocacy.  Mr.

         22  Garber?

         23                 MR. GARBER:  Good afternoon, Chair

         24  McMahon, Council for the Committee, Members of the

         25  Public.  My name is Joseph Garber.  I'm a resident
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          2  of Brooklyn North One, Section 14 of the Sanitation

          3  Department geography as far as enforcement.  I'm

          4  also a member of Neighborhood Advisory Board Number

          5  One.  I'm very glad to be here today to testify on

          6  this proposed hearing relative to intros.

          7                 First of all, I'd like to say that I

          8  disagree with my Councilperson, Councilman Yassky.

          9  I believe that he does not really see how

         10  Williamsburg it is, how bad it is, especially

         11  Section 14.  You walk on Lee Avenue, Bedford Avenue,

         12  you walk on the side street, you see filthy

         13  sidewalks that is not done by outsiders.  The

         14  homeowners are really not taking care of the

         15  sidewalks.  In addition, Section 14 as well as the

         16  whole Brooklyn North One, is full with posters.  I

         17  don't see that level of enforcement.

         18                 Dumpsters, there's a big issue of

         19  uncovered dumpsters on the streets.  In fact, I've

         20  called 311 over a week and a half ago in front of

         21  206 Wilson Street there's a red dumpster that's full

         22  and overflowing, not covered and nothing has

         23  happened.

         24                 Also, special attention must be given

         25  to the Housing Authority garbage bag pick- up sites
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          2  of which NYCHA pays an aggregate total of a million

          3  dollars a year for extra pick- up. Across the street

          4  at 255 Haviviter (phonetic) is one such site.  I

          5  watch the Sanitation Department come intermittently

          6  to collect these bags who, by the time they come,

          7  they're broken open because it's in an unsecured

          8  site.

          9                 Also, I noticed many Sanitation

         10  Department trucks, as they're emptying either litter

         11  baskets or garbage bags at residences, a bag spills

         12  and they do not use the broom on the truck for

         13  clean- up.  When I do see it, I do call the IG of

         14  the Department of Sanitation to let them know.

         15                 I have an interest to how would

         16  somebody be able to check in accordance with Intro

         17  110 if there is private mail in a litter basket?

         18  You know, it's a very good law, and I'm all for it,

         19  but what are you going to do?  Are you going to have

         20  an either officer of the Sanitation, which means

         21  somebody who's called a supervisor or a district

         22  superintendent or above, or a Sanitation police or a

         23  Sanitation enforcement agent put their hand in to

         24  see if they can find mail?  So that one, even though

         25  I agree with it, we have to make sure there's a
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          2  proper enforcement.

          3                 I agree with Intro 382.  I agree with

          4  Intro 548.  I agree with Intro 582, and I agree with

          5  Intro 584.  Even though this is not a Budget

          6  Hearing, I think that the Sanitation Department must

          7  increase its number of uniformed personnel as far as

          8  cleaning and collection.  You can only go so far.  I

          9  remember when I was growing up in the mid- 50's,

         10  early '60's and reading the Chief Leader, every week

         11  they would have the total number of personnel

         12  assigned.  You have maybe 7,000 total uniformed

         13  personnel and how many are doing jobs that could be

         14  civilianized?  That are not even in cleaning and

         15  collection?

         16                 If I had any control over how the

         17  surplus was going to be spent, I would add a minimum

         18  of 3,000 sanitation workers and an equitable number

         19  of supervisors.  We need more people doing street

         20  cleaning, there's no question about it.  And maybe

         21  there has to be greater involvement, just as there

         22  is Precinct Community Councils, there's Community

         23  Boards.  Maybe the Sanitation Department should

         24  consider establishing a type of customer council in

         25  each of the 59 sanitation districts.  Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Thank you, Mr.

          3  Garber. We thank you both.  We thank everyone for

          4  attending today.  Again, we thank Carmen Cognetta

          5  and Dan Avery and Simcha Felder.  We hereby adjourn

          6  this Hearing.

          7                 (Hearing concluded at 3:05 p.m.)
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